From: carolynbeave_

Sent: Sunday, May 19, 2024 11:18 PM

To: nkovacevich@ocfairboard.com; bbagneris@ocfairboard.com; rruiz@ocfairboard.com;
tbilezikjian@ocfairboard.com; dlabelle@ocfairboard.com; npham@ocfairboard.com;
nrubalcava-garcia@ocfairboard.com; djackson@ocfairboard.com; Michele Richards; OCF

Executive
Cc:
Subject: Letter regarding May 23, 2024 meeting
Attachments: C Beaver letter to OCFEC Board May 19 2024.pdf

Please see attached letter related to the OCFEC Board meeting agenda for May 23, 2024.

For your convenience, the text of the letter is in the email below, in addition to the attachment if that is more
convenient for you.

| have a prior business commitment and will be unable to attend the OCFEC Board meeting on May 23, 2024.
Please consider and discuss the following input as you consider the agenda items during the meeting.

The agenda includes the March 28 minutes which were previously approved by the Board. On May 7, | emailed to
the Board of Directors a letter signed by attorney Brooke Miller from the law firm of Sheppard, Mullin, Richter &
Hampton LLP. Her letter states that based upon Policy 3.05 of the OCFEC Board of Directors Policy Manual, the vote
on March 28 to approve the new Equestrian Center phase-in rental rates as presented failed, and the approved
minutes are inaccurate and subject to challenge, as is any action to implement the disapproved action to increase
rental rates at the OCFEC.

Please correct the March 28 minutes when you review this agenda item at the May meeting, and reflect the vote
on the rates as failed.

Despite the knowledge of this lack of valid approval, management sent updated contracts to the boarders at
OCFEC, prior to this meeting. Please remove the Equestrian contracts from the consent agenda. This item should
require further discussion amongst the Board since the prior vote failed.

These 23-page contracts not only include the increased rates, which have not yet been validly approved, but have
other contractual elements which are superfluous, vague and unfair.

1. 50% deposit — | have boarded one or more horses for over 10 years and paid my board bill on time every month.
Why am | being additionally burdened with a security deposit on top of the 52% board increase? This deposit is for
“repair or damage caused by the Renter”. My horse has occupied the same stall. How would you define any
damage caused by me (or my horse) as “Renter”? You should expect normal wear and tear in an equine facility,
which has not been maintained nearly to the level that it used to be. We have not seen the normal welding
maintenance performed since the OCFEC took over theoperation. My horse’s stall has pieces of metal curling up at
the bottom of certain panels. That is unsafe and should be fixed by the Equestrian Center. What damage might | be
asked to pay for, when you have not been maintaining the barns? This is true for all of the stalls.

2. Onerous additional and/or increased fees for tack rooms, storage and trainers, all of which contribute to making
the boarders’ costs significantly higher than other facilities in Orange County. Why should my trainer have to pay
nearly $5K a year to provide lessons and training? These services benefit the public, and benefit the Equestrian
Center since the trainers help fill stalls. The trainers are the “glue” that holds the Equestrian Center together. You
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are charging them more for the stalls for their lesson horses, and at the same time want to charge a fee for the use
of the facility, which we (and they) as boarders are already paying for through our board. You should welcome
trainers and should realize that the relationship is symbiotic; the trainers’ services benefits you. Do not charge the
trainers an additional fee.

Furthermore, the additional fees for storage are exorbitant. It is for safety reasons that supplemental feed is kept
in rodent-proof containers that also prevent a loose horse from accessing food. Why are the boarders being
penalized for safe storage of feed? Would the District prefer we leave all of this out in the public space creating
safety issues for people and animals?

3. The Contract is one-sided and there is no mention in the contract of the Fairgrounds’ obligations to boarders,
including facility maintenance which is sorely lacking (further discussed both above and below). It is not a
“bargained for” contract and none of the boarders nor industry experts have had any input. Additionally, some of
the terms make zero sense for me as a boarder or for future boarders: A. “Association shall have the right to audit
and monitor any and all sales as well as access to the Premises.” Why is that in the contract? | am not a vendor
conducting sales.

Furthermore, another provision states: B. “The Event Sales & Services Policies & Procedures Handbook does hereby
become a

part of this Agreement by reference and is on file with the Association. By signing the Agreement, Renter
acknowledges that they have read the Event Sales & Services Policies & Procedures Handbook and agrees to abide
by said Policies and Procedures.” Why do | have to be concerned about the Event Sales & Services Policies &
Procedures Handbook? | am not a vendor. If the District is sincere in offering horse boarding as a public service, it
needs to do so in a way that it will be successful. These current contracts and onerous terms are in contradiction to
the board’s stated desire to continue to offer public boarding as part of your community-focused plan. You are not
serving the public by charging the highest rates in the area while offering the worst-maintained facilities and
limiting space access. You can’t charge more and offer less. Those of you in business know that isn’t a plan for
success.

The Lopez Works contract includes costs which are excessive. As a Board, you made the choice to enter into that
contract and knowingly approved excessive losses for up to 5 years. As stated in the letter from Brooke Miller:
“Additionally, we urge your Board to direct staff and counsel to further investigate and advise you of the legal standards
governing a determination pursuant to Article XVI, Section 6 of the California Constitution relating to “gifts of public
funds” so that your Board may be fully informed of its discretion to consider the public benefit provided by current
boarders within the OCFEC in making decisions relating to future operations, including rental rates.”

As a result, you are not required to raise rates to cover all costs.

Furthermore, Lopez Works, Inc. is doing a very poor job. The arenas have been maintained in deplorable and
unsafe conditions for a long time. The stall cleaning is well-below industry standard with insufficient bedding
cleaning and replenishment resulting in horses with hock sores and lameness issues. Recently, some horses were
fed moldy hay, which could result in illness or even death of horses. Horses are losing weight as they are not being
fed the appropriate amounts or quality of feed. Personally, | had to increase my horse’s feed, at an additional cost
to me, because he was losing weight despite the fact that he is being ridden less. Neither the EQ office staff nor the
contractor have horse boarding facility management experience and they have not yet learned how to care for
horses. The EQC staff’s general response to complaints is that they don’t manage the workers. Some of the workers
are experienced, but all workers require supervision. Because their supervisors — both Lopez and the District - have
zero equine experience —there are no appropriate standards of horse or facility care being set or met. All of this is
in direct violation of the Board’s strategic plan goals for a “Best in Breed” facility. Between the lack of standard
repairs and sub-standard animal care, the facility and care are well below what they have been in the past. The
Board should direct management to terminate the contract and put out an RFP for another provider to perform
services by people who are knowledgeable about equine care at standard industry costs. This would not only
benefit the boarders but would also benefit the public programs you plan to provide. Alternatively, allow the
boarders to opt-out of feeding, cleaning and daily arena maintenance provided by Lopez Works, Inc. and we will
work together to provide/obtain those services ourselves.



As we have said repeatedly, we would welcome a meeting to further discuss solutions and a pathway forward for
the Equestrian Center’s boarding and public programming success.

We want to be able to stay, but want our horses to be in a safe environment and well cared for.

You have heard so much about the public benefits of the Equestrian Center, and the need for the public to have
space to board horses and/or take lessons on horses which are available nearby. There aren’t other facilities
nearby where residents of Costa Mesa, Newport Beach, Santa Ana, Irvine, Fountain Valley and surrounding areas
can board horses or come for lessons. And yet, we hear NO board discussions that considers the input of the

public, such as those expressed at the April Board meeting and many other prior Board meetings. So many great
points expressed, yet crickets in terms of Board discussion.

You have heard about many of the lives you have positively touched through the Equestrian Center. But you
probably won’t know about the lives negatively impacted because boarders had to part with their horse which they
could no longer afford, or had to move their horse out of Orange County where they could no longer see and ride
their horse as often as they could in Costa Mesa. Or the people who could no longer have riding lessons available to
them, which are important in their lives, whether it is for mental health, fitness, love of horses or other reason, but
is now not available due to the cost increases and lack of affordability. Your decisions do matter to people you are
appointed to serve.

Is that appropriate for a facility on state property, which you say you want to provide public benefits to all? Is that
FAIR? What choice will YOU make as you consider the board and other rate increases?

Sincerely,

Carolyn Beaver
Equestrian, CPA (inactive) and independent board director

Cc: Michele Richards, CEO
Equestrian Task Force



Carolyn Beaver

May19, 2024

Board of Directors

32" District Agricultural Association Board
88 Fair Drive

Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Dear Director:

| have a prior business commitment and will be unable to attend the OCFEC Board meeting
on May 23, 2024. Please consider and discuss the following input as you consider the
agenda items during the meeting.

The agenda includes the March 28 minutes which were previously approved by the

Board. On May 7, | emailed to the Board of Directors a letter signed by attorney Brooke
Miller from the law firm of Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton LLP. Her letter states that
based upon Policy 3.05 of the OCFEC Board of Directors Policy Manual, the vote on March
28 to approve the new Equestrian Center phase-in rental rates as presented failed, and the
approved minutes are inaccurate and subject to challenge, as is any action to implement
the disapproved action to increase rental rates at the OCFEC.

Please correct the March 28 minutes when you review this agenda item at the May
meeting, and reflect the vote on the rates as failed.

Despite the knowledge of this lack of valid approval, management sent updated contracts
to the boarders at OCFEC, prior to this meeting. Please remove the Equestrian contracts
from the consent agenda. This item should require further discussion amongst the Board
since the prior vote failed.

These 23-page contracts not only include the increased rates, which have not yet been
validly approved, but have other contractual elements which are superfluous, vague and
unfair.

1. 50% deposit— | have boarded one or more horses for over 10 years and paid my board
bill on time every month. Why am | being additionally burdened with a security deposit on
top of the 52% board increase? This depositis for “repair or damage caused by the
Renter”. My horse has occupied the same stall. How would you define any damage
caused by me (or my horse) as “Renter”? You should expect normal wear and tear in an
equine facility, which has not been maintained nearly to the level that it used to be. We
have not seen the normal welding maintenance performed since the OCFEC took over the



operation. My horse’s stall has pieces of metal curling up at the bottom of certain panels.
That is unsafe and should be fixed by the Equestrian Center. What damage might | be
asked to pay for, when you have not been maintaining the barns? This is true for all of the
stalls.

2. Onerous additional and/or increased fees for tack rooms, storage and trainers, all of
which contribute to making the boarders’ costs significantly higher than other facilities in
Orange County. Why should my trainer have to pay nearly $5K a year to provide lessons
and training? These services benefit the public, and benefit the Equestrian Center since
the trainers help fill stalls. The trainers are the “glue” that holds the Equestrian Center
together. You are charging them more for the stalls for their lesson horses, and at the
same time want to charge a fee for the use of the facility, which we (and they) as boarders
are already paying for through our board. You should welcome trainers and should realize
that the relationship is symbiotic; the trainers’ services benefits you. Do not charge the
trainers an additional fee.

Furthermore, the additional fees for storage are exorbitant. Itis for safety reasons that
supplemental feed is kept in rodent-proof containers that also prevent a loose horse from
accessing food. Why are the boarders being penalized for safe storage of feed? Would the
District prefer we leave all of this out in the public space creating safety issues for people
and animals?

3. The Contractis one-sided and there is no mention in the contract of the Fairgrounds’
obligations to boarders, including facility maintenance which is sorely lacking (further
discussed both above and below). Itis not a “bargained for” contract and none of the
boarders nor industry experts have had any input. Additionally, some of the terms make
zero sense for me as a boarder or for future boarders:

A. “Association shall have the right to audit and monitor any and all sales as well as access
to the Premises.” Why is that in the contract? | am not a vendor conducting sales.

Furthermore, another provision states:

B. “The Event Sales & Services Policies & Procedures Handbook does hereby become a
part of this Agreement by reference and is on file with the Association. By signing the
Agreement, Renter acknowledges that they have read the Event Sales & Services Policies &
Procedures Handbook and agrees to abide by said Policies and Procedures.” Whydo |
have to be concerned about the Event Sales & Services Policies & Procedures

Handbook? | am not a vendor.

If the District is sincere in offering horse boarding as a public service, it needstodosoina
way that it will be successful. These current contracts and onerous terms are in
contradiction to the board’s stated desire to continue to offer public boarding as part of
your community-focused plan. You are not serving the public by charging the highest



rates in the area while offering the worst-maintained facilities and limiting space access.
You can’t charge more and offer less. Those of you in business know that isn’t a plan for
success.

The Lopez Works contract includes costs which are excessive. As a Board, you made the
choice to enter into that contract and knowingly approved excessive losses forup to 5
years. As stated in the letter from Brooke Miller:

“Additionally, we urge your Board to direct staff and counsel to further investigate and advise you
of the legal standards governing a determination pursuant to Article XVI, Section 6 of the California
Constitution relating to “gifts of public funds” so that your Board may be fully informed of its
discretion to consider the public benefit provided by current boarders within the OCFEC in making
decisions relating to future operations, including rental rates.”

As aresult, you are not required to raise rates to cover all costs.

Furthermore, Lopez Works, Inc. is doing a very poor job. The arenas have been maintained
in deplorable and unsafe conditions for a long time. The stall cleaning is well-below
industry standard with insufficient bedding cleaning and replenishment resulting in horses
with hock sores and lameness issues. Recently, some horses were fed moldy hay, which
could resultinillness or even death of horses. Horses are losing weight as they are not
being fed the appropriate amounts or quality of feed. Personally, | had to increase my
horse’s feed, at an additional cost to me, because he was losing weight despite the fact
that he is being ridden less. Neither the EQ office staff nor the contractor have horse
boarding facility management experience and they have not yet learned how to care for
horses. The EQC staff’s general response to complaints is that they don’t manage the
workers. Some of the workers are experienced, but all workers require supervision.
Because their supervisors — both Lopez and the District - have zero equine experience —
there are no appropriate standards of horse or facility care being set or met.

All of this is in direct violation of the Board’s strategic plan goals for a “Best in Breed”
facility. Between the lack of standard repairs and sub-standard animal care, the facility
and care are well below what they have been in the past. The Board should direct
management to terminate the contract and put out an RFP for another provider to perform
services by people who are knowledgeable about equine care at standard industry

costs. This would not only benefit the boarders but would also benefit the public programs
you plan to provide.

Alternatively, allow the boarders to opt-out of feeding, cleaning and daily arena
maintenance provided by Lopez Works, Inc. and we will work together to provide/obtain
those services ourselves.

As we have said repeatedly, we would welcome a meeting to further discuss solutions and
a pathway forward for the Equestrian Center’s boarding and public programming success.



We want to be able to stay, but want our horses to be in a safe environment and well cared
for.

You have heard so much about the public benefits of the Equestrian Center, and the need
for the public to have space to board horses and/or take lessons on horses which are
available nearby. There aren’t other facilities nearby where residents of Costa Mesa,
Newport Beach, Santa Ana, Irvine, Fountain Valley and surrounding areas can board
horses or come for lessons. And yet, we hear NO board discussions that considers the
input of the public, such as those expressed at the April Board meeting and many other
prior Board meetings. So many great points expressed, yet crickets in terms of Board
discussion.

You have heard about many of the lives you have positively touched through the Equestrian
Center. Butyou probably won’t know about the lives negatively impacted because
boarders had to part with their horse which they could no longer afford, or had to move
their horse out of Orange County where they could no longer see and ride their horse as
often as they could in Costa Mesa. Orthe people who could no longer have riding lessons
available to them, which are important in their lives, whether it is for mental health, fitness,
love of horses or other reason, but is now not available due to the cost increases and lack
of affordability. Your decisions do matter to people you are appointed to serve.

Is that appropriate for a facility on state property, which you say you want to provide public
benefits to all? Is that FAIR? What choice will YOU make as you consider the board and
other rate increases?

Sincerely,

Carolyn Beaver
Equestrian, CPA (inactive) and independent board director

Cc: Michele Richards, CEO
Equestrian Task Force



From: Marce Evans

Sent: Thursday, May 23, 2024 12:28 PM

To: nkovacevich@ocfairboard.com; bbagneris@ocfairboard.com; rruiz@ocfairboard.com;
tbilezikjian@ocfairboard.com; dlabelle@ocfairboard.com; npham@ocfairboard.com;
nrubalcavagarcia@ocfairboard.com; djackson@ocfairboard.com; OCF Executive; Michele

Richards

Cc: Frank Fitzpatrick

Subject: Invitation to Collaborate with Orange County Ranchers re OC Fairgrounds Equestrian
Center

Attachments: thumbnail_LIMG_7549.jpg; 89546758_2971788056204724_3436941862298976256_n.jpg

Dear Board of Directors of the Orange County Fairgrounds & Michelle Richards, CEO of the Orange County Fairgrounds,

| want to thank you for your commitment to agriculture education, and the time the Board Members and Fairgrounds
Staff have allocated to plan and review the future of the Orange County Equestrian Center, especially evident by today's
May 23 OC Fair Board meeting.

| am the Executive Director of The HERD (Holistic Education for Reversing Desertification) Foundation and a rancher with
5 Bar Beef, Orange County's last beef cattle producer that sells grass-fed beef direct to consumers. We raise and graze
cattle & horses in Trabuco Canyon with the dual goals of raising clean, chemical free local grass-fed beef as well as
practicing holistic planned grazing to restore the soil, improve habitat for native plants & wildlife, and prevent wildfires.

| have followed the discussions surrounding the Equestrian Center, attended and spoken at many meetings, and | would
be happy to have your Board & Staff out for a ranch tour to better understand ranchers. | am also a member of Young
Farmers & Ranchers with the Orange County Farm Bureau, and encouraging the future of agriculture is the mission
behind our non-profit HERD Foundation through educational ranch tours and partnerships with private and public
stakeholders.

We would love to collaborate with the Fairgrounds on promoting awareness of ranching in Orange County, and have
previously met with staff (along with Frank Fitzpatrick, the owner of 5 Bar Beef and Founder of The HERD Foundation),
which resulted in a great partnership with a 5 Bar Beef booth at the 2018 fair, the big sign featuring Frank Fitzpatrick, his
Quarter Horse Nick and two of our Barzona cattle which is put up annually at the livestock gate. With Covid, our small
family ranch has had other commitments the last couple of years but we are always happy to help and be a resource.

| personally would love to volunteer my services as a resource for the Board & Staff to better understand modern day
ranching vs urban community equestrian centers that provide public programming to veterans, orphans, inner city kids
of low social economic status, etc. The latter is what you currently have on your property in Costa Mesa, and is a
valuable community resource. | have provided some photos of our ranch in Trabuco Canyon, and please visit our website
to see photos of ranching in action: www.theherdfdn.org and www.5barbeef.com

| believe it is possible for the Fair Board, Staff, the current trainers, horse owners and non-profit businesses that provide
public services to all work together. | would be happy to help that process.

Please reach out at any time.

Sincerely,

Marce Evans



Executive Director, The HERD Foundation
Holistic Education for Reversing Desertification
https://theherdfdn.org/

5 Bar Beef
https://Sbarbeef.com/
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From: Claudia Berglund

Sent: Monday, June 17, 2024 11:22 AM

To: nkovacevich@ocfairboard.com; bbagneris@ocfairboard.com;
tbilezikjian@ocfairboard.com; djackson@ocfairboard.com; dlabelle@ocfairboard.com;
npham@ocfairboard.com; nrubalcava-garcia@ocfairboard.com; rruiz@ocfairboard.com

Cc: OCF Executive

Subject: The Victory At The Fair horse show June 15-16

To the Board:

| write to express my concerns about the impact of actions taken by Michelle Richards in the middle of my show on
Saturday that were very disruptive.

During 2023 | spoke twice at Board meetings about my desire to host shows at the Equestrian Center. Starting in January
| began negotiating a contract to hold a show. In March we settled on a date in June. It took until May to actually finalize
a contract. The Fair staff said all of the right things about community involvement and | believed them. | personally
underwrite the shows, so the financial risk of failure is mine. | have managed shows in Southern California since before
the turn of the century, and the first one was at Orange County Fairgrounds. The contract negotiations took a long time
because the Fair staff has virtually no understanding of horse shows.

| had some negative feedback from the community about the condition of the arena footing. When | reached out to the
staff they engaged a very qualified footing specialist who was able to complete the work the week before my show. The
footing concerns likely negatively impacted my entries, but there was enough interest to go for it. The hope was to have
a happy organized show and grow from there.

Things were going pretty smoothly when Michelle arrived and personally served several of my participants with eviction
notices, including Sarah Klifa who had ten horses entered, mostly ridden by children. She was served while warming up a
child to compete in front of all of the parents and children. As you can imagine this was very upsetting and disruptive to
everyone. | was very proud of Sarah for re-grouping and continuing. The disruption caused the show to take over two
hours longer than planned.

| believe that Michelle's actions were intended to sabotage my show. The delay cost me money, and | got no additional
entries after that. The result was direct personal financial damage to me.

| feel betrayed because everyone said all of the right things about involving the community and making equestrian
sports accessible, and then your CEO drops a very public ugly bomb in the middle of it.

Claudia Berglund

Victory Horse Shows LLC



